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AO 91 (Rcv. 08/09) Criminal Complaint
. .' '' ' - . . . --.-.- ' - . . . . . .

UNITED STATES D ISTRICT COURT
for the

Southem District of Florida

United States of America
V.

Mark Hernandez

)
)
) Case No. 20-mj-03663-Goodman
)
)
)

CRIM INAL COM PLAINT BY TELEPHONE OR OTHER RELIABLE ELECTRONIC M EANS

1, the complainant in this case, state that the following is true to the best of my knowledge and belief.

On or about the datels) of March 2015 to September 2019 in the county of Miami-Dade in the

Southern District of Flbrida , the defendantts) violated:

Code Section O.#b1J: Descyiption
18 U.S.C. 1349
18 U.S.C. 1347

Conspiracy to commit health care fraud
HeaIth care fraud

This criminal complaint is based on these facts:

Please see the attached affidavit of Special Agent Richard Gianforcaro, Federal Bureau of lnvestigation (''FBI''), which
is attached hereto and incorporated fully herein by reference.

V Continued on the attached sheet.

.A e .

mplainant 's signattlre

Sp-ecial Anent Richard Gianforcaro, FB1
Printedname and title

Attested to by the Applicant in accordance with the requirements of Fed.R.Crim.P. 4.1 by FaceTime

9/2 1/20 t'(D
ate: .

Judge 's signature

City and state: Miami, Florida Hon. Jonathan Goodman, U.S. Manistrate Judge
Printed name tmd title
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AFFIDAVIT IN SUPPORT OF CRIM INAL COM PLAINT

1, Special Agent Richard Gialzforcaro, being duly sworn, do hereby depose and state:

INTRO DUCTION AND AGENT'SBACKGROUND

I am a Special Agent with the Federal Btlreau of Investigation C1FB1''), cun-ently

assigned to the kliami Division, I have been employed with the FBI for over four years. l am

presently assigned to investigate a wide variety of health care fraud m atters, ineluding schem es to

defraud M edicare, M edicaid, and other health care benefh program s. In this capacity, I am

authorized to conduct investigatiolzs into criminal violations comm itled against the United States,

including, but not limited to, health care fraud, payment and receipt of illegal health care

kickbacks, m aking false statements in connection with a health care benefit program, and related

conspiracies. 1 am atlthorized to apply for and execute arrest wan-ants for offenses enumerated in

Titles 18, 21, and 42 of the United States Code, and to execute search wan-ants. 1 have received

training in investigatiolzs of fraud related to the United States health care system .

I mn personally involved in this investigation along with other federal agents. The

statements contained in this affidavit are based tlpon a review of 170th public and private records

and interviews condtlcted by me and other federal agents of witnesses knowledgeable about the

facts tmderlying this illvestigation. Because this am davit is provided for the lim ited purpose of

establishing probable cause for im an-est, it does not include evel'y known fact concelming this

investigation, but rather sets fodh only those facts that I believe are necessal'y to establish probable

CaUSe.

1 am subm itting this afl-idavit in support of a criminal complaint clzarging DR.

MARK HERNANDEZ (ELDR. HERNANDEZ'') with Conspiracy to Commit Health Care Fraud

2
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and Wire Fraud, in violation of l 8 U.S.C. j 1349, and Health Care Fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C.

j 1347.

4. Because this affidavit is provided for the liluited purpose of establishing probable

cattse for an arrest, I have not included al1 infonration known to m e regarding this investigation,

but rather, have set fol-th only those facts necessary to establish probabte catkse to believe that the

defendant has committed the charged offenses.

1l. THE CHARGED OFFENSES

Federal law makes it a crime for anyone to lfnowingly or willfully execute or

attempt to execute a scheme or artifice: (1) to defraud any health care benefit'progrnm or (2) to

obtain by means of false or fratldulent pretenses, representatiolzs, or prom ises, any of the money

or propel-ty owned by or under the custody or controlof a health care benefh program, in

colmection with the delivel'y of or payment for health care benefits, items, or services. 1 8 U.S .C.

j 1347(a). Conspiracies and attempts to commit health care fraud also are violations Qf federal

law. 18 U.S.C, j 1349.

6. A tthealth care benefit pror am'' is defined as ttany public or private plan to contract,

aFecting comnaerce, under which any medical benefit, item, or senrice is provided to any

individual, and includes any individual or entity who is providing a m edical benefit, item, or

selwice for which payment may be made tmder the plan or contract.'' 18 U.S.C. j 24(b). In this

case, the private insurance plans that were billed fell under the definition of ççhealth care benefit

PCOVI-ZIXS. 13

Federal 1aw ful-ther lnakes it a crim e for anyone who, having devised or intending

to devise any scheme or adifice to defraud, or for obtaining money or property by means of false

or fraudulent pretenses, represelltations, or prom ises, to transm it by m eans of wire, radio, or

3
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television communication in interstate or foreign commerce, any wlitings, signs, signals, pictures,

Qr sounds fer the pulmoses of executing such scheme or allifice. 18 U.S.C. j 1343. Conspiracies

and attempts to conunit wire fraud also are violations of federal law. 18 U.S.C. j 1349.

111. RELEVANT ENTITIES AND INDW IDUALS

A. The Treatm ent Center

8. According to records on file with the Florida Secretal'y of State, Safe Haven

Recove/, Inc. ('$Safe Haven'') was a colmoration organized tmder the laws of Florida, with its

principal place of btlsiness located in M iami-Dade Cotmty, in the Southem  District of Florida.

Safe Haven was incorporated on or about July 3 1, 20 14. Safe Haven was a substallce abuse

treatment center that ceased operations in late 20 19 after its owner, Peter Po14 (&:Po14''), its Vice

President of Operations, Brian Dublymz (1<Dub1y1m''), and a patient recruiter who refen'ed people

to Safe Haven for pul-pol-ted treatlnent, Jennifer Sanford tççsanford'l, were indicted by a pand jul-.y

i!l the Southel'n District of Florida in September 20 19 (United States v, Polt et a1,, Case No. 19-

CR-20583-SINGHAL), and an-ested on various criminal charges stemming from this

investigation, including Conspiracy to Commit Hea1th Care and Wire Fraud (18 U.S.C. j 1349),

Health Care Fraud (18 U.S.C. j 1347), Conspiracy to Commit Money Latmdering (18 U.S.C. j

1956(1,9), and M oney Laundering (18 U.S.C. jj 1956 (a)(1)(B)(i) and 18 U.S.C. 1957).

B. The Clktical Laboratox-ies

9. Safe Haven used several independent clinical laboratories to pel-form definitive

urine drug tests, and other urine dnlg tests (&trinalysis'' or ttUAs'7) for Safe Haven patients who

were admitted to Safe Haven for substance abtlse treatmelzt. These included Laboratory 1 Ctab

1') Laboratol'y 2 (ttab 2'') Laboratol'y 3 (1:Lab 3'') Laboratory 4 (ûtab 4'') and Laboratory 57 7 7 7

(:&Lab 5,) (collectively, the :tclil'lical Laboratories'').
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10. According to records obtained frolzz numerous private insurance plans, both Safe

Haven and the Clinical Laboratories electronically submitted claims, via interstate wires from

within the Southem District of Florida, to numerous private insurance companies located outside

of the State of Florida, to bill for substance abuse treatment and/or urine dl-ug tests for Safe Haven

patients.

C. The Defendant

According to the Florida Department of Health, DR. HERNANDEZ is a Medical

Doctor, license number 51E830 14. His license was isstled on or about July 25, 200 1. 'Fhe license

is clear and active as of the date of this complaint, and expires on or about Janual-y 31, 202 1.

On or about April 23, 2007, DR. HERNANDEZ liled documents with the Florida

Secretary of State, effectively organizing and incorporating M ark A. Hernandez, M D, PA, for the

pum ose of providing m edical selwices. Its principal place of business was in kliami-Dade Cotmty,

in the Soutlwnz District of Florida,

13, Since at least in or around 20 l 4, DR. HERNANDEZ lzas worked for numerous

substance abuse treatm ent facilities, often selwing as the M edical Director.

Between in or around 20 14 and in or around 20 19, DR. HERNANDEZ worked for

approximately 25 substance abuse treatment facilities. During this sam e period, DR.

HERNANDEZ received approximately $9 million in deposits, incltlding at least approximately

$ t . 5 million in payments from treatment facilities, and approximately $460,000 from Safe Haven.

15. Since appl-oxim ately in or around M arch 20 15 until its closing in or arotmd

September 20 19, DR. HERNANDEZ sen'ed as the M edical Director for Safe Haven. Under DR.

HERNANDEZ'S directorship, Safe Haven billed insurance companies approximately $59 million

dollars, for which Safe Haven was paid approxilnately $14 million.

5
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16. As M edical Director of Safe Haven, DR. HERNANDEZ atlthorized excessive

laboratory testing for Safe Haven patients, which restllted in the submission of approximately $l3

million in additional claims, for wlzich the Clinical Laboratories were paid over $1 million.

17. 'Fhus, in total, DR. HERNANDEZ and his co-conspirators sublnitted and caused to

be submitled claims totaling approximately $72 million dollars, causing insurance companies to

pay approximately $14 million to Safe Haveno and approxiluately $1 million to the variotls

laboratories with wlzich Safe Haven worked.

18. DR. HERNANDEZ prescribed buprenorphinel in the fonn of Suboxone
, Subutex,

and Ztlbsolv to many opioid-addicted patients, at Safe Haven and elsewlzere. From in or around

October 2014 through in or around October 20 19, DR. HERNANDEZ prescribed approxim ately

170,000 doses of buprenorphine to approximately 5,000 patients. Although, as descl-ibed further

in Paragraph 34, DR. HERNANDEZ was only authorized to prescribe buprenorphine to lOO

patients at any given tim e, he exceeded tllis amount m any tim es,

t Buprenorphine is a Drug Enforcement Achninistration (CrEA') Schedule 11 opioid that has a strong
potential for abuse. It is the only medication approved for the treatment of opioid abuse disorder that can
be dispeltsed by a phannacy and used at home. Buprenoqlhine can suppress withdrawal symptoms, decrease
opioid cravings, and bloclc the effects of other opioicls. Suboxone and Zubsolv are eommercial names for
buprenorphine combined with naloxone, an opioid antagonist. Subutex is the colmnercial name for
bu'prenorphine without naloxone. If a substance contxaining buprenolyhine and naloxone is cl-ushed and
snol4ed or injeeted, the naloxone effect cah block buprenoqlhine's euphoric effect.s and potentially bring
on opioid withdrawal symptoms. Because it lacks naloxone, Subutex is generally prescribed to pregnant
women and individuals who are allergic to naloxone. W hile Suboxone, Zubsolv, and Subutex have been
approved by the Food and Drug Administration (ItFDA') for elinical use in connection with treatment of
opioid dependency, because buprenorphine is itself an addictive opioid and its side effects mirror those of
other opioids, it ean be misused, and safety precautions and clinical guidelines must be followed. Its use is
heavily regulated at both federal and state lcvels. Clinicians are responsible for ensuring that medications
like buprenorphine, with high potential for misuse, diversion, and abuse, are used with caution to ensure
patients are taldng them appropriately and not diverting them. A dlazg test that is positive for an opioid,
such as mophine, and does not show signs that the patient is taking their prescribed buprenorphine, should
prompt ihe healthcare provider to consider a change in the treatment plan, including ending the
buprenorphine prescription, since the patient may be diverting the dmg.

k
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As detailed ful-ther herein, despite duties owed to the patients tmder his care, and

his knowledge of luedical necessity criteria and l-equirements for provision of treatm ent selwices,

DR. HERNANDEZ used his patients' insurance infbnuation, and/or enabled his co-conspirators

to use their insurance informatiolz, to seek and obtxain reim bursements at their expense: for testing

and selwices that did not aid their care; were not m edicalty necessary', did not oecur as represented',

and in som e cases, were never rendered at all. Specifically, DR. HERNANDEZ selwed as an

absentee physician who was seldom at Safe Haven, who hardly ever saw patients there, atld who

barely supervised the subordinate practitioners and medical extenders who saw patients in his

stead. DR. HERNANDEZ autlzorized medically unnecessary urine dl-ug tests, ignored evidence of

patients using illegal drugs, ignored the fact that patients were billed for therapy that was never

provided or was provided by unqualified personnel, provided an empty signature on m edical

records, and allowed Safe Haven to tlse his credentials to prescribe controlled substances to

patients without proper medical oversight. DR. HERNANDEZ also allowed the unlawful

diFpensing and distribution of buprenorphine, a controlled substance. In suln, the investigation has

revealed that DR. HERNANDEZ conspired with the owners and operators of Safe Haven, and

others, to submit and cause the submission of false and fraudulent claim s for substance abuse

treatment services and laboratol'y testing services for drug-addicted patients purpnrtedly tmder his

care, which were medically unnecessary, not rendered properly, or never rendered at all.

20. Based on open source information, DR. HERNANDEZ is cun-ently listed as the

kledical Director at Unity Behavioral Health (t&UBH''). Data from the Florida Prescription Drug

Monitoring Program (EçPDN1P'') databasez, known as E-FORCSE, qtleried on or about August 4,

2 The PDNT is an electronic database that track.s controlled substance prescriptions in a state. PDM P data
can provide health authorities and prescribers up to date mfol-mation about controlled substznceprescription
patterns and patient behaviors. Prescribers have access to PDMP data.
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2020, indicates that DR. HERNANDEZ continued prescribing controlled substances, including

buprenorphine and benzodiazepines3, even after his co-cons/irators ' al-rests and indictlnent. The

address listed for m any of the patients to whom DR. HERNANDEZ recently prescribed controlled

substances is 2349 SW  Cal-.y St., Port Saint Lucie, Florida, a location associated with UBH.

BACKGROUND ON DRUG AND ALCOHOL REHABILITATION

A. Substance Abuse Treatm ent

2 1. Based on my training and experience, l know that substance abuse treatment is

regulated under state and federal law. Federal 1aw defines ltsubstance abuse'' as çithe abuse of

alcohol or other dnlgs.'' 42 U.S.C. j 290cc-34(4). (Treatment'' is defined as çtthe care of a patient

suffering from a stlbstance use disorder, a condition which is identified as having been caused by

the substance use disorder, or both, in order to reduce or elim inate the adverse effects upon the

patient.'' 42 C.F.R. j 2. 1 1.

22. Substance abuse treatm ent regulations describe a continuum of care includzg, from

most intensive to least intensive, detox, partial hospitalization (1tPHP'')4, intensive outpatient

(1tIOP'') and outpatient (:tOP7'). The varying levels of treatment provided are based on the severity>

of the addiction. Persons undergoing treatm ent on an outpatient basis, whether in PHP, IOP, or

OP will oRen elect to live in a ttrecover.y residence,'' also known as a ttsober home,'' tlhalfway: .

house,'' or in som e cases çtcolumtlnity housingy'' with other persons who are also in treatm ent and

3 Ber odiazepines are depressants that produce sedation and hypnosis, relieve anxiety, ancl muscle spasms,
and reduee seizures.

4 The Florida Department of Children and Families, which regulates and lieenses treatment facilities in
Florida, refers to Pl-V as Day or Night Treatment. These tenns may be usecl interehangeably in this
Afidavit. Facilities ean be licensed for Day or Night Treatment either with or without community housing.
ln a Day Night or Treatment with Community Housing program, room, board, and transpol-tation are
provided by the program for PI-!P patients.

8
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comm itted to a dlalg- mzd alcohol-free lifestyle. W hile these tenns forthe residences are comm only

interchanged, they are referred to herein as 'tsober hom es.''

23. Detox is intended for individuals who are still addicted to and are using controlled

substances and/or alcohol. Detox facilities can be inpatient or outpatient and mssist patients in

dealing with the effects of withdrawal from the complete cessatiolz of using drugs and/or alcohol.

After successfully completing detox, patients receive treatment for their underlying addiction in

thù form of outpatient care, through either PHPS, IOPs, and/or OPs. PHP, IOP, and OP patients

atlend facilities on an ongoing basis where treatnlent is rendered, generally in the fon'n of group

and individual therapy sessiolzs, The distinction among the three different treatmelzts plans relates

to, among other things, the amount of therapy tim e on a daily or weekly basis. Patients generally

transition from detox to PHP, then to IOP, and finally to OP as they overcom e their addiction.

24. M edical and osteopathic doctors play an essential role in substalzce abuse treatment.

svithout a doctor, patients at the substance abuse treatm ent centers would not receive prescriptions

for dnzgs, receive treatment, or have urine, blood, or other bodily fluid testing, Bodily fluid tests,

which are prescribed by 'the doctors, are billed to lzealth plans by the substance abuse treatm ent

centers and/or laboratories, as are patient evaluations pelformed by a physician,

25. Substance abuse treatment programs, pal-ticularly PHPS and 1OPs, generally

include the following core services: orientation and intake; bio-psychosocial assessment',

individual treatment planning; group and individual counseling; case management', integration into

mutual-help and community-based support groups', 24-hour crisis coverage; medical treatment;

substance evaltlation and psychotherapy', m edication m anagement', and transition or discharge

planning.

9
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Sober homes, conversely, typically do not provide medical care or clinical services

to their residents but operate solely as group residences where residents can live with a support

network of others in recovery. Except for facilities whose licensing includes community housing

(such as those licensed to provide Day or Night Treatment with Colnmunity Housingl,s residents

of sober hom es are expected to pay their own rent and utilities, allowing the sober hom es to recover

its costs, as in any typical landlord-tenant l-elationship. In an effol-t to m aintain a safe and sober

environment for a11 other residents, if any patient is fotmd to be using dlalgs or alcohol while living

in a legitim ate sober home or community housing, they should be removed from the facility.

27. 'The Florida Department of Children and Faluilies (L(DCF'') is l'esponsible for

licensure and oversight of addiction treatment facilities that provide detox, PHP, IOP, and OP

programs in the State of Florida. One of the requirements that DCF places on cel-tain facilities is

that they have a medical director.

28, In Florida, substance abuse treatlnent sm-vices are govem ed by the û&Ha1 S.

Marchnzan Alcohol and Other Dl-ug Sel-vices Act'' (:%he klarchlnan Act''), F1. Stat. j 397,30 1,

Under the à'larchm mz Act, private substance abuse selwice providers' policies regarding paylnent

f6r services have to colnply with federal and state law. F1. Stat. j 397.431.

29. A11 ttclinical treatment'' under the M tu-chman Act, including detox, PHP, IOP, and

OP mtlst be t&a professionally directed, deliberate, and planned regimen of sen/ices and

intelwentions that are designed to reduce or elilninate the m isuse of dnlgs and alcohol and promote

a healthy, drug-free lifestyle.'' F1. Stat. j 397.311(26)(a). The Florida Department of State

5 Put another way: unde'r Florida regulations, programs licensed to provide day and night treatment with
community housing are required to provide or manage colmuunity housing for their patients. See Fla.
Admin. Code R. 65D-30.008 1. However, this applies only to those patients undergoing Pl-m -level
treatment. Safe Haven was licensed to provide Day or Night Treatment with Community Housing as well
as outpatient detox, IOP, and OP treatment. At any given time, tlw majority of patients at Safe Haven were
not PHP patients, and thus were not entitled to free room and board.

10
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promulgates nlles for substance abuse treatment senrices, incltlding standards for detox, PHP, IOP

and OP. F1. Admin. Code jj 65D-30.006, 659-30.0081, 659-30.0091 and 65D-30.010. !

B. Federal Guidelines for Substance Abuse Treatm ent

The U.S. Depal-tm ent of Healtlz and Hum an Services, Substance Abuse and M ental

Health Services Administration, Cehter for Substance Abuse Treatment (IKSAMHSA''I, also

promulgated guidelines for substance abuse treatm ent. Those gtlidelines referred to varying levels

of treatment provided based on the severity of the addiction, including, for pul-poses of this

affidavit, IOP.

31. The American Society of Addiction Medicine (.CIASAM'') is a professional medical

society representing over 6,000 physicians, clinicians, and associated professionals in the field of

addiction medicine. ASAM published the ASANI Criteria, which was a collection of objective

guidelines that give clinicians a way to standardize treatm ent plalm ing and where patients are

placed in treatm ent, as well as how to provide continuing, integrated care and ongoing sen/ice

plalming, including for detox, PHP, IOP, and OP treatment sen/ices.

32. One fon'n of treatment for substance abuse involves the use of a prescription

controlled opioid, buprenol-phine, in order to wean addicts off of illegal opioids, including heroin.

Brand names of these medications include Suboxone and Zubsolv (which also contain naloxone)

and Subutex. Only licensed physicians can prescribe these medications. Because drugs containing

buprenorphine are Schedule I1l controlled substances, meaning that there is a strong potential for

abuse, resulting in fatal and non-fatal overdoses, prescribing physicians also must have two

registratiolzs with the U.S. Dnzg Elaforcement Adlninistration (çIDEA?'). The first registration is the

standard S:DEA num ber,'' required to prescribe any controlled substance. The second registration

is a ItDEA X-num ber,'' which is granted to a limited num ber of physicians with valid GLDEA
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numbersr'' who have completed a training program on substallce abuse treatmelzt and have futfilled

other regulatory requirem ents.

The Dl'ug Addiction Treatment Act (ILDATA'') of 2000 amended the Controlled

Substances Act to permit physicians to treat opioid addiction using Schedules ll1-V, FDA-

approved narcotic drug products without having to obtain a separate DEA registration as a narcotic

treatm ent program . Those registered with the DEA as DATA-waived physicians could treat 30 or

10O patients at any one time. ln 20 16,Congress passed the Com prehensive Addiction and

the Controlled Substances Act to pel-mit nurseRecovery Act (LKCARA'') which amended7

pl-actitioners and plzysician assistants registered with the DEA to also treat opioid addiction based

on state authority. In 20 l6, the Depal-tment of Health and Hum an Senrices published a Federal

Register Notice which increased the patient limitation to 275 for plzysicians.

DR, HERN ANDEZ was assigned DEA Registration Number BH74l l3f 1 on or

about August 3, 2O0 1, On or about September 10, 20 13,DR. HERNANDEZ obtained his

Practitioner-DW /loo, a designation by the DEA that allowed DR. HERNANDF,Z to treat up to

opioid addicted patients tlsing Schedtlles FDA-approved narcotics, such as

buprenorphine, without having to obtain a separate DEA registration as a narcotic treatm ent

progrnm .

C. Paym ent for Substance Abuse Treatm ent and Ul-hle Drug Testin:

35. Instlrance coverage for substance abuse treatm ent and testing is available through

a number of avenues, including, but not lim ited to, the following private insurance companies:

Aetna Health Management LLC and Aetna Life Insurance for M embers (:1Aetna''), Blue

Cross/Blue Shield (ûtBCBS'') Cigna Healthcare (çEip1a'7), Humana Inc. (:tl-ltlmana''), United

Behavioral Health and United Hea1th Group, Inc. (Glunited'7), and Optum Health Cioptum'')
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(collectively refen-ed to hereinafter as the tilnsurance P1a11s''). 7-he Insurance Plans oflbr health

care coverage directly to consumers and through employers, incltlding ERISA and IZOIZ-ERISA

plans. They also manage health care plans offered to federal employees. The Insurance Plans cover

m edical and clinical treatment costs of rellabilitation in accordance with the telqns of their policies

and state and federal law, including l'equirements that addiction treatm ent services and testing be

m edically necessal'y. A11 of the Insurance Plans paid Safe Haven for claims in this case during the

relevant period.

D. Uz-ine Drut,. Testine. in Substance Abuse Treatlnent

36. Urine dl-ug testing is one monitoring strategy used by substance abuse treatment

centers to deted recent dlalg or alcohol use by a patient. 'lhere are 1wo prim M-y categories of

testhzg: inuuunoassay testing (e.g., a dnlg screelz or point of care (çGPOC'') testing) and spectfi' c

dnlg identification (e.g., definitive, or confinuatol'y testing).

37. POC tlrine testing involves collecting urine in a specific cup designed for testing.

The specimen is analyzed using a color band or nulnbered dipstick, allowing for visual positive or

negative results. POC urine testing usually tests for the presence of 9 to 13 specific types of dl-ugs.

POC tests typically cost between $5 and $10 and can be read easily by a layperson. This testing is

convenient, and less costly, and the restllts can be read quickly. POC testing is the m ost common

fonn of urine testing pelfonned at treatment facilities.

38. Definitive (or confinnatol'y) urine drug tests CCDUDTS/') use gas liquid

chromatography-mass spectrometry (:tLCklS''I and/or gas chromatography, or high-pelformance

liquid chromatography, to analyze the urine specim en. These teclm iques are highly sensitive, and

acctlrately and definitively identify specific substances and the quantitative concentrations of the

dnlgs ortheir metabolites. This testing is more precise, more sensitive, and detects more substances
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than other types of urine testing. Results of definitive testing talte longer, and the tests are

sigllificantly more expensive; single urine specimens that undergo drug screen analyzers and

LCM S testing can be billed to insurance companies for thousands of dollars.

Insurance plans often provide guidanee to service providers, including physicians,

substance abuse treatm ent centers, and laboratories, on the type and frequency of testing that will

be reimbursable. This guidance is based on policy statements from ASADI, ptlblications by expert

researchers in the area of substance abuse treatluent, and policies of federal and state govelmment

agencies. For example, BCBS issued guidance on or about Novem ber 15, 2013, stating that, in

certain circumstances, drug-screening tests could be used in colmection with substance abuse

treatm ent where a patient is suspeeted of drug m isuse and there wms a sujpicion of eontinued

substance abuse. The guidance indicated that dnlg screening tests would not be deemed medically

necessary, however, where siluultaneous blood and urine testing was occurring or where testing

was merely a routine pal4 of a physician's treatm ent protocol.

40, J-IA or arotmd 20 14, BCBS provided m ore specific guidance, stating that, in an

outpatient substance abuse treatment setting, weekly Poc/screening tests could be medically

necessary, and thus eligible for reimbursement, during the stabilization phase of treatment for a

maximum of four weeks. Once patients reached the lnaintenance phase, such screening would be

appropriate only once every 1-3 months, and stlch tests should be lim ited to 15 total during a 12-

month period. The guidance further indicated that m ore sophisticated definitive laboratol'y testing

should be used olzly in specific situations, such as where atl unexpected positive test was

inadequately explained by the patient or there was a need for qtlantitative levels to compare with

established benclunark, tmd should be lilnited to 12 tests in a lz-month period.
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BCBS specilied that urine dnlg testing did not meet the detinition of medical

necessity, and thus would not be eligible for l-eimbursement, in the case of: (1) routine qualitative

or quantitative urine drug testing (e.g., testing at every visit, withotlt consideration for specific

patient risk factors or without eonsideration for whether quantitative testing was required for

clinical decision lnakingl; (2) more sophisticated definitive laboratory testing is used instead of or

as a routine supplement to ordinalw screening/poc testing', (3) simultaneous blood and tlrine

specimen testing; and (4) testing for residential monitoring.

42. To bill insurance conzpanies for urine drug testing and other bodily fluid testing
,

substance abuse facilities often submit claims on Form CM S 1450, also known as the Health

lnsurance Claim Form (1tHlCF'7) to the elient's respective insurance company. Before billing for

the urine dl-ug test, providers 1,1,11.1st first obtain a prescription from the patient's medical doctor,

who must deem the UA medically necessaly. HICFS contain, among other infonzlation, the client's

nanw alld biograpllical infonuation, his or lwr insurance infolnnation, diagnosis, k'tat: and place of

selwice, the standardized procedure codes, the number of units provided, the total dolliu- am otmt

being charged and name and location of the billing company. The procedure code and the tmit

volum e assist in deten-nining the dollar amount at which the client's insurance company will

reimburse the provider. Completed HICFS can be printed and mailed to insurance companies or

they can be submitled electronically. W hen the HICF is submitted, the provider cellifies that the

contents of the HICF are tl-ue, col-rect, and complete.

V. PROBABLE CAUSE TO BELIEVE
CRIM ES HAVE BEEN COM M ITTED

A. Overview of DR. HERNANDEZ'S Role hz the Conspiracv

43. DR. HERNANDEZ senzed as the M edical Director at Safe Haven for

approxilnately four yeal's, from in or around Nfarch 20 15 until its closure in September 2019.
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44. According to Safe Haven's Policy and Procedtlre Manual, which was filed with

DCF, DR. HERNANDEZ, as the M edical Director, had final decision-making authority on

whether a client was appropriate for admission and/or discharge. His duties also included

reviewing al1 patients' medical charts, meeting with each patient for evaluation, ordering necessal'y

medications, overseeing medical stafll and preparing al1 nzedical protocols and procedures. DR.

HERNANDEZ was authorized to have subordinate practitioners but was responsible for

countel-signing a11 restllts of their physical 11ea1th assessments. As such, DR. HERNANDEZ was

respoluible for ordering and authorizing each of the tests conducted on Safe Haven patients, and

for ensuring those results were reviewed and incomorated into each patient's treatment plan,

45. This hw esligation has revealed that most Safe Haven patients never even m et DR.

HERNANDEZ, and thus were never evaluated by him. Some employees, incltlding medical staff,

never met DR. HERNANDEZ in pelson either, as he was seldom at the facility. If a consultation

did occur, it was often via phone or text message. DR.HERNANDEZ'S absentee method of

sening as M edical Director was not unique to Safe Haven; DR, HERNANDEZ was also fired

from a different facility by its owner, Cooperating Defendant 1 CtCD1''), because he was not

sum ciently involved in patient care.

46. DR. HERNANDEZ also provided Safe Haven with standing orders that authorized

laboratory testing for patients attheir facilities, without regard to medical lzecessity, and authorized

the use of his DEA num ber to facilitate the ordering of controlled substances, specifically

buprenorphine. DR. HERNANDEZ did not evaluate the patients at Safe Haven for whom 1ab

orders were submitted, or for whom controlled substances were prescribed. In the vast majority of

cases, medical extenders such as nurses or Advanced Registered Nurse Practitioners (;fARNPs'')

purportedly supervised by DR. HERNANDEZ were the only ones who evaluated these patients,

Case 1:20-mj-03663-JG   Document 3   Entered on FLSD Docket 09/22/2020   Page 17 of 36



often prescribing controlled substances and/or providing smwices that they were not appropriately

qualified or licensed to provide, DR. HERNANDEZ and his medical extenders routinely failed to

use the results of the testing DR. HERNANDEZ ordered to create or revise treatm ent plans.

47. Based on a review of the m edical records and intelwiews with patients and folnner

Safe Haven employees; DR. HERNANDEZ and his medical extenders contributed to the claims

submitted to the Insurance Plans for selwices that were either medically ulmecessal'y (and not used

in treatment), improperly provided (by unqualified personnel), or not providçd at a11.

48. Despite not being present at Safe Haven, DR. HERNANDEZ directly participated

in fraudulent activities there as its authorizing physician. DR. HERNANDEZ had access to Safe

Haven's medical records, which he frequently signed as a reviewing physician, atbeit in a vel'y

delayed manner long after sen/ices were doctlmented. In these files, DR. HERNANDEZ could see

the excessive frequency of laboratory testing, the failed drug test results, and' the orders for

controlled substkmces.

49, DR. HERNANDEZ also communicated with Pol't, the owner of Safe Haven, and

some of Safe Haven's m edical staff regarding prescl-iptions for controlled substances, including

buprenop hine. DR. HERNANDEZ had access to E-FORCSE,G and discussed with Pol't the fact

that he (DR. HERNANDEZ) was checking his controlled substance prescription history.

Ful-thennore, a medical cxtender of DR. HERNANDEZ infolnned

HERNANDEZ of Safe Haven's practices, and that he no longer wished to see patients there.

6 E-FORCSE was not able to locate any query history by DR. HERNANDEZ, or a listed desi> ee, over the
last four years. However, as detailed later in tlzis ao davit at Pararaph 94, DR. HERNANDEZ told Pol4
that he was checldng izis controlled substance prescription histol'y on E-FORCSE. Indeed, tlzis was required
by Florida law.
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According to the medical extender, DR. HERNANDEZ ir ored this request, however, because he

wanted to continue to be paid by Safe Haven.

5 1. Safe Haven's patients were soluetim es proctlred tlzrough kickbacks that included

free flights to South Florida, and other m eans, DR. HERNANDEZ did not directly pal-ticipate in

such conduct, but as M edical Director, his authorization and signature allowed Safe Haven and his

other co-conspirators to fraudulently bill for substance abuse treatment services for patients whose

referrals to Safe Hàven were induced by kickbacks. DR. HERNANDEZ also benefited financially

as m ore patients were adm itted at Safe Haven, in that he w as able to obtain higher fees when the

patient census was 20 or m ore,

Safe Haven was licensed by DCF for outpatient detox, day or night treatm ent wiih

colnmunity hotlsing (equivalent to a PHP level of care), IOP, and OP. Based on a review of

insurance claim records, submitted between M arch 2015 and September 2019, the peliod during

which DR, HERNANDEZ selwed as Medical Director, Safe Haven submitted approximately $59

m illion in claims to the Insurance Plans for various addiction treatm ent services, including detox,

PHP, IOP, and OP. 'I'he insurance claim records show that, based onthe submission of these claims

vià interstate wire, the lnsurmlce Plans paid Safe Haven approximately $14 million.

53. As M edical Director of Safe Haven, DR. HERNANDEZ authorized excessive

laboratory testing (plimarily urine drug testing) for patients, which resulted in the submission of

approximately $13 m illion in additional claims, for which the Clinical Laboratories were paid over

$1 million.

Based on evidence set fo14h below, along whh my training and experience, I submh

that there is probable cause to believe that m any of the claim s that Safe Haven submitted to the

Insurance Plans for reimbursement for detox, PHP, IOP and OP treatm ent services, and urine dlmg

18
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testing, during DR. HERNANDEZ'S tenure as M edical Director were false and fraudulent. DR.

HERNANDEZ, as Safe Haven's Medical Director, and his co-conspirators commitled health care

and wire fraud while they owned, operated, and oversaw Safe Haven. Specifically
, the treatment

provided at Safe Haven %as fraudulent because:

Safe Haven patients used illicit dlalgs (including marijuana, cocaine, and opiates)
while admitted at Safe Haven, tested positive for drugs and/or were visibly
intoxicated and/or seen using drugs, with no ramifications or changes to their
treatment plans, which undercut the very purpose of the substance abuse treatment
senices supposedly provided;

Safe Haven patients missed som e or a11 of cel4ain required therapy sessions, but
Safe Haven nevel-theless billed for such services as ifthey in fact occun-ed;

* DR. HERNANDEZ and the medical staff did not properly document patients'
admissions, and did not conduct required assessments upon adm ission',

Patients were billed for therapy sessions that did not qualify as actual stlbstance
abuse treatment;

DR. HERNANDEZ allowed Safe Haven's owner, Po14, to dictate which substance
abuse treatm ent services to bill in order to generate revenue, based upon the
expected payout from the patient's insurance, not based on m edical need;

DR. HERNANDEZ failed to provide the required individualized substance abuse
treatment to patients',

DR. HERNANDEZ failed to provide required m edical oversight of Safe Haven's
medical staftl

DR. HERNANDEZ authorized excessive and m edically unnecessary urine drug
tests but did not timely review the results of such tes-ts, if at all. Further, these tests
were not used in patient treatment, but were done to generate revenue',

DR. HERNANDEZ allowed controlled substances to be prescribed to Safe Haven's
patients by unqualified peaonnel, and sometimes took responsibility by sir ing
such ordets days later; atzd

DR, HERNANDEZ presclibed controlled substances without medicaljustification,
and outside the scope of comm on m edical practice, despite indications t1-1at 1he
m edications were being diverted.
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B. Expert Consultant Findincs

55. The law enfbrcemellt team ilwestigating this matter consulted with an expert in

addiction treatment, Dr. Kelly J. Clark. Dr. Clark is a licensed Medical Doctor (M.D.) in Florida

(and in scveral other states) and has a Master's in Business Administration ('&I.B.A.). She has over

20 years of experience in the addiction treatment field; is board-cel4ified in addiction medicine

and psychiatry; is a distinguished fellow of the American Psychiatric Association and the

American Society of Addiction M edicine; has been a Chief M edical Officer for two multi-state

addiction treatlnent companies', and worked on various national guidelines establishing the

standards of care for addiction treatment and testing. Since April 20 19, Dr. Clark has served as tlze

Immediate Past President of the American Society of Addiction Medicine (and was a fonner

President) and remains on its Board.

Dr. Clark recently provided expert testilnony at trial in the Southenl District of

Florida in t'wo casts rtgarding allegations of addiction trtatment fraud, olw of which was against

a pllysician (United States v. Abtwvan. Case No, 18-CR-80 122- MIDDLEBROOKS (physician

defendant); United States v. Aluned- Case No. 19-CR-60200-COHN) (owner and executive of

sober homes and addiction treatment facility). Dr. Clark has been retained as an expert in other

addiction treatm ent fraud cases and was admitted as an expert witness after a Daubert healing on

Jtme 26, 2019 (United States v. Snvdere et a1., Casc No. 18-CR-8O1 1 I-ROSENBERO). Finally,

Dr. Clark has been noticed as an expert in the case involving DR. HERNANDEZ'S co-conspirators

(United States v. Po14e et a1., Case No. 19-CR-20583-SlNGHAL),

57. Dr. Clark reviewed a subset of Safe Haven patient records and billing claims (for

Safe Haven and several labs with which it was affiliated). Dr. Clark found that the medical records

and billing datafor Safe Haven indicated that the stafll including DR. HERNANDEZ, did notmeet
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even a minimal standard of care in the addiction treatment field. The doctuuents show a pattelm of

medically unnecessal'y, excessive, and inappropriate prescl-iptions and urine drug testing intended

to increase Satk Haven's profits, and not the patients' wellbeing.

58. Dr. Clarkfotlnd that Safe Haven patient records were cortfused and inadeqtlate, and

that DR. HERNANDEZ paid little atlention to patient care, illustrated by his sir ing blank or

outdated assessluent forms, failing to review urine drug test results, neglecting to incol-porate

progress notes into patient files, and failing to address clear indications of continued dl'ug ablzse

and diversion, including failed dnlg tests.

Dr. Clark fotmd that the ARNPS were acting outside the scope of practice, and that

Safe Haven and DR. HERNANDEZ were utilizing them outside their credentialed abilities. She

determined that ARNPS under DR. HERNANDEZ'S supervision routinely prescribed controlled

substances, including Suboxone, prior to 2017, even though such prescriptions w ere forbidden in

the state of Florida, and despite the fact that they lacked the appropriate DEA certifications.

60, Dr, Clark found no medical reason for the vast majority of the urine dnlg testing

conducted at Safe Haven. Testing was done at an inappropriately high frequency, for an

inappropriately high num ber of substances. The tests were done in large panels without evidence

of individualization. The tests were not reviewed in a timely enough manner (if at a11) to allow

them to be used effectively for treatment pul-poses, norto allow them to be integrated into patients'

treatment plans. Dr. Clark therefore concluded that there was no medicaljustification for the vast

majority of drug tests ordered by Safe Haven under DR. HERNANDEZ'S signature. In addition,
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the'r: is litlle evidence in the/ reviewe,d medicat files that when patients faile,d the urine dnlg tests,

these results were ever discussed with the patient or used in treatment.

Dr. Clark observed that prescriptions for abuseable medications, such as

Gabapentin and Seroquel, wereroutinely provided without appropriate medical justification.

Suboxone wms prescribed to patients without clear indication of m edical necessity. Prescriptions

for these medications were provided while ignoring possible evidence of diversion, such as dnlg

tests not showing positive results for controlled substances that they were prescribed,

C. Fm ud Related to Substance Abuse Treatm ent Semrices

62. Based on evidence set forth below, along with my training and experiellce, I submit

that there is probable cause to believe that m any of the claim s that Safe Haven subm itted to the

Insurance Plans for reimburseluent of detox, PHP, IOP, and OP treatment selwices during DR.

HERNANDEZ'S tenure were false and fraudulent.

1. Evidence of Substance Abuse Treatznent Fraull Based on Fad W itnesses.

Numerous coll dential witnesses, including fol-m er employees and patients at Safe

Haven, provided statement.s to federal agenls regarding these fraudulent practices a.t Safe Haven:

Form er Em ployees

a. Collfidential W itness 1 (CGCW 1'7), who worked as a behavioral health
technician at Safe Haven from in or arotmd July 20 l 8 to early 20 19, witnessed drug use in
Safe Haven's housing, and drug deals, and that Safe Haven imposed no consequences for
this dnlg use. CW 1 stated that his/her/their direct supelwisor, T.B., would tl'y to kick out
patients when they broke the l'ules, but the clients would be brought right back in, som etimes
on the sam e day that they were kicked out, According to CW  1, if a client had a good
insurance policy, they would be allowed to stay at Safe Haven. Patients would only be
kicked out and not allowed to rettunl if their insurance hit the m aximum lim it.

b. Collfidential W itness 2 (tçCW 2''), who worked as Director of
Operations at Safe Haven from in or arotmd July 20 17 to September 20 17, stated that
he/she/they believed Pol4 paid some clients $500 to atlend Safe Haven, that patients used
drugs while in treatment at Safe Haven, and that Dublynn and Po14 were aware of such
dnlg use. CW 2 also stated that Safe Haven was m onths behind on review of patient charts.
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According to CW 2, behavioral techs at Safe Haven lacked training, and therapists would
tell patients in group sessions to just talk nmong thelnselves.

c. Colédential Witness 3 (t&CW3''), who was the Director of
Operations from in or around Septem ber 2017 to Jtlne 20 18, told federal agents during an
interview that the lnajority of therapy sessions at Safe Haven consisted of patients just
watclling TV, that patients in treatment smoked marijuana, which Dublynn and Po14
allowed, and that patients would be kicked out of Safe Haven once their insurance stopped
paying for services. CW 3 also stated that Sanford recruited patients and sometim es
''smudged'' gi.e,, falsified) pre-assessments so that patients would qualify for admission to
detox treatment, which was the highest and most expensive level of care Safe Haven
offered.

d. Colzfidential W itness 4 (ItCW4''), who worked as aregistered mental
health cotlnseling intelnz at Safe Haven off and on between in or around 2016 and 20 18,
both pall-tilne and full-time, and conducted grotlp and individual therapy sessions,
described Safe Haven to federal agents as a idniglztmare twilight zone.'' On one occasion

,

CW 4 was unable to conduct any clinical activity and Dublynn told him/her to Gtfudge it.''
CW 4 told federal agents that on other occasions, he/she discussed with Dublylm and Port
that patients were testing positive for drugs while in treatm ent, and Dublynn and Port would
Gjust 1et it go and not impose any consequences.''

e, Colzfidential Witness 5 (t:C5V5'7), who worked for Safe Haven as a
behavioral health technician for approxilnately 15 m onths, told federal agents that drug use
was frequent by patients at Safe Haven, and that Dublynn and Pel't were aware Qf such
drug use. C$V5 stated that there was no repercussion for missing group therapy, and some
patients stayed outside during p oup therapy sessions,

f. Colzfidential W itness 6 CGC!V6''), who has worked in the substance
abuse treatlnent Geld for appl-oximately 30 years, told federal agents that he/she worked at
Safe Haven as a bellavioral teclm ician for only two weeks before Dublynn fired her, which
he/she believes was due to the fact that he/she was asking a 1ot of questions about Safe
Haven's practices. C5V6 told federal agents that he/she observed group therapy sessions
that, based on his/her 30 years of experielwe, were not legitim ate. For example, CW 6
obsenred clients sitting in a room and playing on tlzeir phones and/or vaping, while a group
facilitatol-/therapist hung out to ensklre that they did not leave. C)V6 also obselwed drug use
at Safe Haven, and told federal agents that there were no consecluences for using drugs
while at Safe Haven or for failing dnlg tests.

g. Confidential Witness 7 (1:CW7''), who was a behavioral 11ea1th
tecluzician at Safe Haven for approxim ately seven m ontlzs, told federal agents that Dublylm
and Po14 created an environm ent where patients would stay at Safe Haven because they
could get wllatever they wanted. According to CW 7, this included frequently purchasing
and using dlazgs while at Safe Haven. CW 7 told federal agents that patients at Safe Haven
uszd Cashapp on their phones to pay dnzg dealers and that the dealels would drop dlnzgs in
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the yards of the sober hom es used by Safe Haven patients. CW 7 also told federal agents
that patients would be assessed by nurses btlt never saw a doctor.

Fonner Patients

h. Collfidential W itness 8 (ç&CW 8'') was a patient at Safe Haven for 2.5
months in early Novemtner 2017. CW 8 stated that he/she never saw a doctor at Safe Haven,
that he/she was told to sipz in for p oup therapy that did not occur, and that he/she
witnessed patients doing drugs while at Safe Haven. CW 8 also told federal agents that
Salzford offered te pay CW 8 $500 to go to Safe Haven and that Safe Haven was low on
clients, and was paying to keep them there. According to bank records from Bank of
Am ericw Port paid for a plane ticket to fly CW 8 from Seattle, W mshington to M iami,
Florida the day before CW 8 was admitted to Safe Haven.

i. Collfidential Nvitness 9 (tKCW 9'') stated that he/she tçroutinely'' got
high while at Safe Haven but was not kicked out because of this drug use. According to
CW 9, Safe Haven wotlld discharge some patients if ilzsurance companies raised an issue
with 1ab tests. Furthel-more, CB?9 told federal agents that he/she overdosed five (5) times
while she was a patient at Safe Haven, requiring the adm inistration of Narcan each tim e,
and that 91 1 was never called any of the times that he/she overdosed, and he/she was never
brought to the hospital. According to CW 9, behavioral health technicimls at Safe Haven
advised patients not to call 9 1 1, stating that they had Narcan available if a.n overdose
occun-ed. CW 9 stated tllat he/she never saw or spoke with a doctor while he/she was at
Safe Haven and tlzat his/her individual tlzerapy, which occul-red once per week, would
typically last five minutes.

j. Colzfidential Witness 10 (ççCW 10'') was a patient at Safe Haven in
or arotmd July and October 20 17. CW  10 stated that Sanford arranged his/her travel from
Atlanta to Florida and that Port paid for his/her flight, and this is corroborated by bank
records. CMTIO told federal agents that he/she signed for moup therapy that he/she did not
atlend, that when he/she did atlend group therapy it consisted of patients just sitling around
on their phones and getting yelled at, that he/she never saw the therapist who was assir ed
to him/her, and that he/she witnessed drtlg use at Safe Haven. According to CW  10, Safe
Haven did not want to help people, theyjtlst wanted the insurance money.

k. Collfidential Witness l l (IICW l 1') was a patient at Safe Haven for
approximately 90 days, having left in or around the end of 2018. CW 1 1 told federal agents
thgt patients go to Safe Haven because they lcnow it is a çfop,'' m eaning patients get high
Ktconstantly'' at Safe Haven and there are no consequences. CW  1 1 told federal agents that
he/she/they personally infolnued Dublynn about patients getting high at Safe Haven and
thatnotlling wms done about this. According to CW 11, there was no actual totherapy'' in the
group setting at Safe Haven, and once yotl sign in for a session, you can leave. CW  11
missed a few group therapy sessions to go to a doctor's appointm ent but was still told to
sign i!l as if he/she atlended the session. CW 1l never saw a doctor at Safe Haven, only a
nurse practitioner. CW 1 1 did not pay rent, was given $75 W almart gift cards for food, and
was also provided cigarettes every day as inducements to stay at Safe Haven.
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1. Confidential W itness 12 CtCW 12'') was a patient at Safe Haven
ffom on or about January 12, 20 19 to on or abotlt February 28, 2019. CW 12 told federal
agents that he/she told Dublylm about patients' drug use while at Safe Haven and Dublymz
told CW 12 Glnot to won-y about it, and to only won-

.y abotlt himself/herself.'' Dtlring group
therapies, patients would be on their phones or vaping, and were allowed to leave. CW 12
never saw a doctor at Safe Haven and never saw a prescription bottle with his/her nam e on
it. CW  12 told federal agents that he/she/they leR Safe Haven to get legitimate treatment.

Evidence of Fraud Based on Rmriew of Eh'llk Records.

64. Over the course of this investigation, the investigative tenm obtained over 1,400

electronic medical records (&IEMRs'')7 of more than 850 patients of Safe Haven.

Based on a review of approximately l 59 EM RS for approxim ately 65 patients, Safe

Haven patients frequently tested positive for dalgs, including marijuana, opiates, and cocaine

while admitted at Safe Haven, and oAen were not discharged after positive dnlg test results.

66. This EM R review also showed m ultiple instances where initial psychiatric

eyaluations, which were required to be conducted during the adlnissions process, were either not

signed, were sir ed by an ARNP or NP instead of DR. HERNANDEZ, and/or were signed after a

patient was discharged. lâultiple patient files were missing these evaluations altogether.

D. Fraud Related to Urlne Dzaze Testine

Based on evidence gathered in this investigation, along with my training and

expelience, I subm it that there is probable cause to believe tlzat many of the urine drug tests,

partictllarly the DUDT claims that Safe Haven and DR. HERNANDEZ caused the clinical

laboratories to subm h to lnsurance Plalu for reimbursem ent, were false and fraudulent in that,

among other things, the DUDTS were not m edically necessal'y.

68. M ore specifically, based on intelwiews of witnesses, including fonner employees

and patients of Safe Haven, and a review of medical records of Safe Haven patients, I know that

7 Safe Haven utilized Kipu Systems LLC (now Kipu Health) for their EM R. interface.
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Safe Haven and DR. HERNANDEZ ordered DUDTS for patients as frequently as three times a

week, mostly on Mondays, W ednesdays, and Fridays. ln most instances, each DUDT ordered by

Safe Haven and DR. HERNANDEZ was a routine supplem entto a POC drtlg screen
, meaning that

a patient's urine specim en was first collected in a specific cup and analyzed using a color band or

numbered dipstick (the POC test) and then the specimen was sent to a clinical laboratory for a

DUDT to confin'n the result of the POC.

Evidence of Fraud Based on Safe Haven Patient's M edical Files and Claim s Data.

69. Based on a review of patient medical files and interviews of Safe Haven patients

and employees, in most instances, Safe Haven and DR. HERNANDEZ ordered successive DUDTS

without DR. HERNANDEZ, his subordinate praditioners, or any other Safe Haven employee first

reviewinpthe result of the previous DUDT or eventhe result of the previous POC that Safe Haven

was purportedly ''colé nning'' with the DUDT. Indeed, a review of Safe Haven paiient records

revtals a patttnl of delayed revitws of drug ttsts', tests somdim cs took as long as four m onths to

be reviewed, and were often not reviewed prior to patient discharge.

Based on a review of claim s data, clinical laboratories billed as much as $4,000 for

each DUDT that Safe Haven and DR. HERNANDEZ ordered to purpol-tedly confinal the result of

a POC tlzat, in m ost instances, records show that no one had reviewed.

By way of example, on or about July 24, 2017, Safe Haven sent to a clinical

laboratory an order for a DUDT (the 117/24 DUDTA') for CW 10, a patient then-admitted at Safe

Haven. Based on a review of CW 10's lnedical file and insurance claim s datw the 7/24 DUDT for

CW 10 was identical to four (4) prior DUDTS ordered for CW IO on ot ahout July 14, 17, 19, and

21, 2017. CW  10's medical file does not contain the 1ab yesults of the 7724 DUDT or any of the

four previous, identical DUDTS. Furthermore, based on a review of the m edical file, along with
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my experience and training, it appears that CW  l0's 7/24 DUDT, and the four previous DUDTS

for CW IO, were ordered as a stlpplement to POC drug screens occun'ing on the sam e dates, and

none of those POCs were signed as being reviewed until on or about December 13, 20 17, which

was approximately five m onths afler CW IO was discharged from Safe Haven.

72. Based on a review of the claims data for patient CW IO, Safe Haven caused the

clinical laboratory to bill Aetna $3,404 for each of the DUDTS ordered for CW IO, for. a total of

$17,024 in submitted claims. Based on these claims, Aetna paid the clinical 1ab $11,440.

73. Safe Haven clzanged labs several times. However, in EM R for patients of Safe

Haven, 1ab orders for Laab 1, listing DR. HERNANDEZ as the ordering physician, can be found

with identical m edical necessity statements, which read:

lGuline dl'ug testing is m edically necessal'y for diagnostic, clinical, and therapeutic
pup oses, to detect the use of prescription medications and illegal substances of
concenl for the pulmose of assesslnent and treatment and to nzonitor com pliance
with the medication protocol of the Program a''

'1Ye Lab 1 orders note the tests m-e to be condueted M ondays, W ednesdays, and Fridays, and were

not individualized by patient, indicating a ttdrug screen-lg, urine w/confirm on positives,'' and a

I&safe Haven Custom Tox Panel.'' For these orders, insurance companies were billed over $3,000

per sgbmission.

74. The same m edical necessity stateluent can be found iIA the EM R for orders for Lab

2, listed as being ordered by DR. HERNANDEZ. However, Lab 2 orders incltlded drug screens

for various dlmgs (cannabinoids, antidepressants, oxycodone, opiates, methadone, cocaine,

buprenorphine, barbiturates, amphetamines, arld heroin metabolite), confil-matol'y tests for various

dnlgs (calmabinoids, sedative hypnotics, gabapentin, fentanyl, benzodiazepines, buprenorphine,

amphetamines, alcohol, and antidepressants), pil validity, and creatinine validity. These ordel's

Case 1:20-mj-03663-JG   Document 3   Entered on FLSD Docket 09/22/2020   Page 28 of 36



wer: also not individualized by patient. For these tests, insurance companies could be billed

approximately $4,500 per submission.

75. A review of Safe Haven patients' EM R related to laboratory testhzg showed that

the results were oAen not reviewed in a timely m anner, if at all. klany tests were reviewed weeks

or m onths after testing was condtlcted, and sometimes after the patient had already left the facility.

'lhe date/tim e stamps on the signattlres demonstrate that those for a particular patient were often

signed a11 at once. As such, this evidence suggests it is highly unlikely that a health care provider

conducted a substantive review of the test reskllts. For example:

a. Patient 1 and Patient 2 lzad 1ab orders subm itted to Lab 2. DR.
HERNANDEZ signed nine dl-ug screens for Patient 1 en September 1, 2019 within
approximately two minutes. These drug screens were dated from August 13, 2019 to
August 30, 2019, and several had laboratory results from Lab 2 atlached. Approximately
fiheen minutes later, DR. HERNANDEZ spent approxilnately two minutes signing ten
dl'ug screens for Patient 2, dating from August 9, 20 19 to August 30, 2019, several of which
had laboratol-y results from Lab 2 attached. For both patients, DR. HERNANDEZ signed
the screens in reverse chronological order. Collectively, for Patients l and 2, Lab 2 billed
BCBS approximately $65,000.

b. DR. HERNANDEZ signed approximately 25 dnzg screens for
Patient 3, on October 18, 20 16 within approxim ately 15 minutes of each other. Results
from the laboratory that tested these salnples, Laboratory 5 ttGtx':b 5'7) were tlploaded into>
the EM R for many of these drug screens. The screens dated from August 22, 20 16 to
October 17, 2016 but were also signed in revel'se clzronological order. Lab 5 billed BCBS
approximately $181,000 for these tests.

2. Evidence of Urine Drug Testhlg Fraud Based on Fad Nvitnesses.

76. ln addition, based on intelwiews of witnesses, Safe Haven's staff rarely reviewed

the results of DUDTS with patients and, in some instances, ordered DUDTS for one patient tlsing

anotlzer patient's urine.

a. CW 3, a fonner Director of Operations at Safe Haven, stated that if
a patient had trouble urinating into the POC test cup, a sample would be grabbed from
another client to be sent to the lab.

28

Case 1:20-mj-03663-JG   Document 3   Entered on FLSD Docket 09/22/2020   Page 29 of 36



b. Collfidential svitness 13 (LLCSV 137'), a former patient, stated that
he/she was drug tested three to four tim es per week. CW  13 was getting high, butthe results
of his/her drug screens were never discussed with him/her.

c. CW  12, a fonner patient, undem ent dl'ug tests ever
.
y M onday,

W ednesday, and Friday, but the results were never disctlssed with him/her.

E, vidence of Ux-ine Testing Fm ud From  a Cooperating Defendant.

77. Advanced Registered Nurse Practitioner 1 ('GARNP 1'') worked as a subordinate

practitioner to DR. HERNANDEZ at m ultiple facilities, including Safe Haven. ARNP 1 expects

to be charged with federal health care fraud conspiracy charges (18 U.S.C. j 1349) related to

his/her conduct in another federal case in the near future, and is cooperating in hopes of obtaining

a favorable plea agreement or charging benefit.

ARNP 1 told agents that DR. HERNANDEZ sired a standing order that subjected

a11 patients at the facility to the sam e testing regim en, regardless of their dl-ug of choice, status of

their sobriety, diagnosis, or history. ARNP 1 stated that DR. HERNANDEZ autlzorized testing at

whatever frequency wms reqtlired by Pol-t and Dublylm, two individuals with no medical training

or credentials.

79. ARNP 1 also infolnned DR. HERNANDEZ that he/she/they did not want to

continue working at Safe Haven. DR. HERNANDEZ asked ARNP 1 to contim le seeing patients

there, as Safe Haven was one of the few facilities still paying DR. HERNANDEZ.

ARNP 1 told agents that DR. HERNANDEZ allowed controlled substances to be

prescribed under his license at Serenity Rmlch.8 In addition, ARNP 1 referred DR. HERNANDEZ

to several substance abuse treatm ent facilities that needed a M edical Director to sign standing

8 ln July 2019, four individuals, including the facility's owners and operators, were indieted on yarious
criminal charges (United Statas v. Aluned. et a1., Case No. 19-60200-CR-COHN) related to Serenity Ranch
Recovery, also known as Jacob's W ell, Amica Hea1th, and M edi M D, another group of purported substance
abuse treatment related centers based in South Florida.
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ordtrs, similar to those DR. HERNANDEZ signed for Satk Haven, and that these facilities would

often seùd such standing orders to ARNP 1 to then send to DR. HERNANDEZ.

4. Other Docum entary Evidence.

8 1. Based on an ax davit he signed in an tmrelated civil case, (Livina Tree

Laboratories- LLC v. United Healtlz Care Selwices- Inc., Case No. 16-CV-24680-GAYLES), DR.

HERNANDEZ was aware of what constituted medical necessity for proper urine dnlg testing, and

thus was aware, or should have been aware, of the lack of medical necessity for excessive and

fratldulent urine drug testing he authorized and made possible for Safe Haven.

In or around March 2017, DR. HERNANDEZ signed an affidavit ED.E. 199-31

related to the above m entioned civil case, attesting that samples should only be sent to a 1ab for

additional expensive laboratory testing if at least one of two circumstalwes occurred: first, a

positive result of the qualitative or presumptive POC test; or second, the patient presented on a

given day and appeared to be under the effects of dnlgs or alcohol or indicated that he/she had

taken drugs or alcohol.

In or m'ound April 20 19, DR. HERNANDEZ created a drug testing policy for Safe

Haven, in which the medical necessity criteria for definitive testing was detailed. However, at Safe

Haven, samples were routinely sent for definitive laboratol'y testing, regardless of whether the

POC result was positive or negative and il-rtspective of thc patient's attitude or demeanor, in

viotation of Safe Haven's own ptu-pol-ted policy.

After sir ing the aforementioned affidavh, atzd creating the drug lesting policy for

Safe Haven, DR. HERNANDEZ continued to sign as reviewing the laboratory reskllts in Safe

Haven's EM RS, often weeks after the tests were conducted and in reverse clzronological order. The

frequency of testing would be evident to anyone reviewing these records.
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5. Evidence of DR. HERNANDEZ'S mzd Poxï's Joint Crimhzal Conduct
.

85, Port, Safe Haven's ownèr, had access to patient records and reviewed a11 bills. Po14

routinely comm unicated with DR. HERNANDEZ via text
, and w as thus aware, and in a position

to be aware, that (a) DR. HERNANDEZ signed urine drug testing orders that were not

individualized for each patient, and (b) the results of those tests were not timely reviewed or used

in patient treatm ent, and thus were not medically necessal'y.

Although Safe Haven did not directly bill for DUDTS, Port' and Safe Haven staF

profited from these ulm ecessary tests because patient recnliters working for or with the laboratories

agreed to send patients to Safe Haven (where they could be billed for treatments and tests that were

unnecessar
.f or not provided) on the condition that Safe Haven send those patients' urine and/or

blood samples to be tested at their am liated laboratofies.

E. Unlaw ful Drlza Distribution

87. Although DR. HERNANDEZ was only authorized by the DEA to treat 1OO patients

at any given time with buprenol-phine starting on or about September l0, 20 13 (as previously

explained in Paragraph 34), he exceeded this limit approximately 50 times between 20 15 and 2016,

which were also the years DR. HERNANDEZ eanled the m ost m oney.

88. Based on my review of medical records, and interviews of ARNPS and Registered

Nurses (G1RNs'') puportedly working tmder DR. HERNANDEZ, 1 know that prescriptiens for

controlled substances, specifically buprenorphilze, were ordered using DR, HERNANDEZ'S DEA

license, sometim es without DR. HERNANDEZ having seen the patient, reviewed his/her file, or

even consulted on the decision.

89. ARNP 1 infol-m ed agents that he/she/they almost never consulted with DR.

HERNANDEZ on a patient, but that DR. HERNANDEZ was aware his DEA license was being
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used for controlled substance prescriptions. ARNP l also set DR. HERNANDEZ up with Serenity

Ranch Rectwel'y in a similar capacity, where DR. HERNANDEZ could be paid for buprenorphine

prescriptiolzs in his name, without having to see patients.

90. Advanced Registered Ntlrse Practitioner 2 (CIARNP 2:'), who did not have a DEA

license but prescribed buprenorphine using DR . HERN ANDEZ' DEA license, had a supelwisory

agreement Ctprotocol'') with DR. HERNANDEZ, but had never physically met him.

9 1. Safe Haven ARNPS did not work evel'y day. W hen an ARNP was not on duty
, a

RN would evaluate incoming Safe Haven patients. Registered Nurse 1 (LKRN 1'') told agents he/she

would text ARNP 2 and DR. HERNANDEZ to receive pelnnission to send a prescliption to the

phannacy. Text messages obtained from Pol-t's phoneg indicate that DR. HERNANDEZ asked

little to no follow-up questions regarding the patients ' conditions and approved such requests.

For example, on or about April l9, 20 19, Poltexted DR. HERNANDEZ in a group

message including RN 1 and other medical stafll asldng if a new client could be given Subutexio

in lieu of Suboxone, stating 11w client was allergic to Stlboxone. W ithout asking any questions,

DR. HERNANDEZ replied, ttYes, snme doses apply.''

DR. I-IERNANDEZ atlthorized controlled substance prescriptions when requested

by Pol4, a man with no medical trailling or licensing. On or about Febnlary 9, 20 19, in a group text

bdween Pork DR. HERNANDEZ, and RN 1, Port requested an Ativantaper for five patients, who

were at Safe Haven with RN 1. The patients had already been adm itled at Safe Haven for several

days but had left the morning prior and relapsed on Xanax. DR. HERNANDEZ approved a new

9 Port's phone was seized at the time of his al-rest pursuant to a search wanunt
z on or about September 13,

20 19.

10 As stated in footnote 1, Subutex contains only buprenolyhine, whereas Suboxone contains buprenorphine
and naloxone. Naloxone is an opioid antagonist, whieh means that it bloclcs the effects of opioids at the
receptor sites, malcimg Suboxone more diY cult to abuse tlzan Subutex.

Case 1:20-mj-03663-JG   Document 3   Entered on FLSD Docket 09/22/2020   Page 33 of 36



prescriptiolz for Ativan, a benzodiazepine, even though a previous Ativan taper had been ordered

several days prion DR. HERNANDEZ, who had access to Satk Haven's EM R
, did not sign the

new orders for Ativan, which had already been filled and dispensed to the patients, untit over one

month later, on or about M arch 19, 2019. DR. HERNANDEZ was frequently late on signing orders

for controlled substances. The m edical records indicate that patients were often being dispensed

medications, including controlled substances, days, or weeks before the orders were reviewed and

signed by DR. HERNANDEZ. ln text nzessages with ARNP 2, ARNP 2 a1e14s Port that orders

were not being signed by DR. HERNANDEZ. Pol4replies, KGDI' Hem andez signed allthe Dr orders

for those clients 6/26/19. He falls behind and then dies gsic) them a1l at once.''

94. Text messages between Port and DR. HERNANDEZ in or around August 2019

indicate that DR. HERNANDEZ told Port he was using E-FORCSE, to eheck approxlmately eight

months' worth of controlled substrces prescribed hz his name. Per Florida Statute 893,05548), for

scheduled dnlgs other than nonopioids listed in Schedule V, &6a prescriber or dispenser or a

designee of a prescriber or dispenser lzmst consult the system to review a patient's controlled

substance dispensing history before prescribilzg or dispensing a controlled substance for a patient

age 16 or older.'' Despite DR. HERNANDEZ'S text message to Port as indicated in footnote six

herein, E-FORCSE was no1 able to locate any query histol'y by DR. HERNANDEZ, or a listed

designee, over the last four years.

ARNP 1 told agents that he/she pal-ticipated in aphone cali duling which Port stated

he wanted to use DR. HERNANDEZ'S DEA number to prescribe Suboxone to Safe Haven

patients, as other treatlnent facilities were doing. ARNP 1 stated that it was understood that DR.

HERNANDEZ would not be personally consulted on individual prescriptions, although he would
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be able to trackthose orders in patients' EM RS and his own E-FORCSE data. DR. HERNANDEZ

did not push back on Port's request.

Subsequently, as colw borated by my review of Safe Haven patients' EM R, ARNP

1 routinely ordered Suboxone for patients using DR. HERNANDEZ'S DEA mlmber, despite the

fact that: (a) ARNP 1 was not waivered to prescribe buprenol-phine, (b) ARNPI had no way of

knowing whether DR. HERNANDEZ had exceeded his buprenomhine patient limit, and (c) DR.

HERNANDEZ did not see the patients or review their medical files prior to the prescription.

97. According to Dr. Kelly Clark, a m edical expel-t in the stlbstance abuse treatlnent

field (discussed above in Paramaphs 55 to 6 1), when prescribing drugs of abuse to patients with

known >ddiction, care must be taken to m onitor for m isuse or divelsion. DR. HERNANDEZ'S

afol-ementioned delayed review of dl-ug test results, and his allowance of the use of his DEA license

to prescribe dnzgs of abuse witlzout his required medical oversiglzt delnonstrate a gross deviation

from the standard of care.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, I sublnit that this e davit sets fol'th sum cient facts to

establish probable cause to believe that, from in or arotmd M arch 20 15 until in or around

Septelnber 2019, in M iami-Dade and Broward Counties, in the Southem  District of Florida, and

elsewhere, DR. M ARK HERNANDEZ, together with the owners and operators of Safe Haven and

otàers, conspired to commit (a) health care fraud, that is, to knowingly and willfully execute, and

atlempt to execute, a scheme to defraud any 11ea1th care benefit program and to obtain, by m eans

of false and fraudulent pretenses, representatiolls, and prom ises, any of the money and propel'ty

owned by, mzd under the ctlstody and control ofr any 11ea1th care benefit program, in comzection

with the delivery of and payment for health care benefks, items, and selwices, in violation of Title
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1 8, United States Code, Section 1347, and (b) wire fraud, that is, having devised a scheme or

artifice to defraud, transmitted by means of wire, radio, or television communication in interstate

or foreign conmwrct, any writings, signs, signals, pictures, or sounds fo: the purpose of executing

suih scheme or artifice; al1 in violation of Title 1 8, United States Code 1349, and committed

substantive health care fraud, in violation of Title l 8, United States Code, Section 1347.

1 declm'e under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and corfect to the best of my

knowledge mld belief tMs 21st day of September 2020, in Miami, Florida.

FURTHER AFFIANT SAYETH NAUGHT.

... 
-

HAR GIANFORCARO'
Special Agent
Federal Bureau of lnvestigation

Attested to by the applicant in accordance with the t-equirem ents of
FedR.Crim.P. 4.l by Face Time this 21st day of September 2020.

/,r
HON. JONATHAN GOODM AN
UNITED STATES M AGISTRATE JUDGE
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